
  
www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 
 

MEETING NOTICE 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: 
Grant E. Bauman 
R2PC Principal Planner 
(517) 768-6711 
gbauman@co.jackson.mi.us 

DATE: December 9, 2021 

TIME: 6:00 p.m. 

PLACE: 5th Floor Commission Chambers 
 Jackson County Tower Building 
 120 W. Michigan Avenue 
 Jackson, Michigan 49201 

MEETING AGENDA 
 

1. Call to order and pledge of allegiance 

2. Public comment [3 MINUTE LIMIT] 

3. Approval of minutes 

Approval of the November 10, 2021, meeting minutes [ACTION]  ............................................................  3 

4. Approval of agenda 

Approval of the December 9, 2021, meeting agenda [ACTION] 

5. Request(s) for review, comment, and recommendation 

a. Consideration of township zoning amendment(s) 

(1) CZ | #21-31 | Napoleon Township rezoning [ACTION]  ..............................................................  5 

b. Consideration of master plan(s) – None 

c. Farmland and Open Space Preservation Program (PA 116) application(s) – None 

6. Other business 

a. Unfinished business – None 

b. New business – None 

7. Public comment [2 MINUTE LIMIT] 

8. Commissioner comment 

9. Adjournment 

The next scheduled meeting of the Jackson County Planning Commission is January 13, 2022 

12/9/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #1 

mailto:gbauman@co.jackson.mi.us


This page is intentionally blank. 

12/9/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #2 



  
www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 
 

MEETING MINUTES 

November 10, 2021 
5th Floor Commission Chambers ● Jackson County Tower Building ● Jackson, Michigan 

Members Present: Ms. Pat Gallagher, At Large; Ms. Nancy Hawley, At Large; Mr. Ted Hilleary, Educa-
tion; Mr. Russ Jennings, At Large; Mr. Corey Kennedy, Jackson County Board of 
Commissioners; and Mr. Jim Videto, Agriculture 

 Members Absent: Mr. Eric Beda, Industry and Economics; Mr. Timothy Burns, At Large; and Mr. 
Roger Gaede, Environment 

 Liaisons Present: Mr. Grant Bauman, Principal Planner 

 Others Present: None 

Item 1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance. Chair Hawley called the meeting to order at 6:00 
p.m. Those in attendance rose and joined in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Item 2. Public Comment. There was no public comment. 

Item 3. Approval of Minutes. Comm. Hilleary made a motion, seconded by Comm. Gallagher, to 
approve the October 14, 2021, meeting minutes as presented. The motion was approved 
unanimously. 

Item 4. Approval of the Agenda. Comm. Kennedy made a motion, seconded by Comm. Videto, to 
approve the November 10, 2021, meeting agenda as presented. The motion was approved 
unanimously. 

Item 5. Request(s) for Review, Comment, and Recommendation. 

a. Consideration of Township Zoning Amendment(s). 

(1) CZ | #21-28 | Summit Township 

Staff summarized his report regarding the proposed rezoning of a portion of prop-
erty located on Robinson Road (Parcel ID #000-13-07-426-027-02) to ‘suburban resi-
dential 2 (RS-2)’. Staff advised County Planning Commissioners to recommend ap-
proval of the rezoning (please see the staff report). 

Comm. Videto made a motion, seconded by Comm. Hilleary, to concur with the staff 
advisement to recommend approval of the proposed ‘RS-2’ rezoning to the Summit 
Township Board. The motion was approved unanimously. 

(2) CZ | #21-29 | Norvell Township 

Staff summarized his report regarding a proposed ordinance that would allow a 
medical marihuana caregiver as a home occupation in the agricultural residential 
(AG-1) on lots of at least 5 acres. Staff advised County Planning Commissioners to 

12/9/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #3 



11/10/21 JCPC Minutes Page 2 
 

recommend approval with comments of the ordinance, noting the need to incorpo-
rate the standalone ordinance into the zoning ordinance and the other comments 
provided in the staff report (please see the staff report). 

Comm. Videto wondered if the proposal should be approved based upon the 
changes recommended by staff. He stated this concern also applies to recommenda-
tions in general. There was lots of discussion. 

Comm. Hilleary made a motion, seconded by Comm. Kennedy, to recommend ap-
proval with comments of the proposed ordinance to the Norvell Township Board if 
the concerns listed in the staff report are addressed (see the staff report). Commis-
sioners approved the motion by majority vote with Comm. Jennings voting no. 

(3) CZ | #21-30 | Norvell Township 

Staff summarized his report regarding various proposed text amendments to the 
Norvell Township Zoning Ordinance. Staff advised County Planning Commissioners 
to recommend approval with comments of the text amendments (please see the 
staff report). 

Comm. Jennings made a motion, seconded by Comm. Hilleary, to concur with the 
staff advisement to recommend approval with comments of the proposed text 
amendments to the Norvell Township Board. The motion was approved unani-
mously. 

b. Consideration of Master Plan(s). None. 

c. Farmland & Open Space Preservation Program (PA 116) application(s). None. 

Item 6. Other Business. 

a. Unfinished Business – Jackson County Master Plan. 

Staff reviewed the second draft of the Future Land Use map, and accompanying text, 
with the County Planning Commissioners. 

Comm. Videto made a motion, seconded by Comm. Hilleary, to approve the modifica-
tions to the Future Land Use map. The motion was approved unanimously. 

b. New Business. 2022 Meeting & Submittal Deadline Schedules. 

A change in the day of the month the Jackson County Planning Commission meets was 
discussed, but ultimately rejected. 

Comm. Kennedy made a motion, seconded by Comm. Hilleary, to approve the 2022 
Meeting & Submittal Deadline Schedules. The motion was approved unanimously. 

Item 7. Public Comment. None. 

Item 8. Commissioner Comment. Chair Hawley mentioned that Connected Nation came out to 
Henrietta Township. Money is available for broadband coverage and she thought it might be 
of interest to others. 

Item 9. Adjournment. Chair Hawley adjourned the meeting at 6:44 p.m. 

Respectfully submitted by:  
Grant Bauman, Recording Secretary 

 

12/9/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #4 



  
www.co.jackson.mi.us/county_planning_commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

COORDINATED ZONING REPORT | #21-31 

 To: County Planning Commissioners 
 From: Grant E. Bauman 
 Date: December 1, 2021 

 Proposal: A rezoning in Napoleon Township 

Request 
The southern 0.47 acres of the subject property—ID #115-14-36-427-008-00 —is proposed for rezoning 
from ‘single-family residential (R-1)’ to ‘general commercial (GC)’ (see Figure 1 and the background in-
formation). The southern 0.47 acres of the subject property (see the boundary line adjustment sketch) 
has been split off and the applicant has taken ownership of the new lot. 

Purpose 
The applicant owns the new lot (i.e., the southern 0.47 acres of the subject property) as well as associ-
ated properties along Brooklyn Road (M-50) to the east (see Figure 1). The applicant wishes to expand 
the Kelly Fuels commercial complex located to the east along M-50.1 

Location and Size of the Property 
The 0.47-acre new lot is situated in Section 36 (T3S-R1E) of the Township. It is located on the north side 
of Brooklyn Road (M-50) (see Figure 1). The Kelly Fuels commercial complex is located directly to the 
east. 

Land Use and Zoning 
Current Land Use – The new lot is currently vacant. The Township currently assesses the new lot as an 
‘exempt’ use as it was formerly owned by Napoleon Community Schools (see Figure 2). The Napoleon 
Community Schools campus is located to the northeast. The Kelly Fuels commercial complex is located 
directly to the east. 

Future Land Use Plan – The Napoleon Township Master Plan recommends ‘commercial’ uses for the 
new lot (see Figure 3). The same is true for the other properties in the general areas adjacent to Brook-
lyn Road (M-50). 

Current Zoning – The subject property is currently zoned ‘single-family residential (R-1)’, as are prop-
erties located to the north and west, including the Napoleon Community Schools campus (see Figure 4). 
The Kelly Fuels commercial complex is zoned ‘general commercial (GC)’. 

 

                                                 
1 Please note that this report lists the proposed use for informational purposes only. Do no utilize it in making the rezoning deci-
sion. Circumstances may change tomorrow which make the proposed use impractical. All of the uses that the proposed zoning 
designation would allow are pertinent to the rezoning request. 

12/9/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #5 



CZC | #21-31 Page 2 
 

Public Facilities and Environmental Constraints 
Water and Sewer Availability – Municipal sewer and water services are available to the new lot. 

Public Road/Street Access – Brooklyn Road (M-50), a state highway, provides direct access to the 
new lot. 

Environmental Constraints – The new lot has no known environmental constraints, according to the 
Township. 

Analysis and Recommendation 
Township Planning Commission Recommendation – The Napoleon Township Planning Commis-
sion recommends approval of the proposed rezoning of the new lot to ‘general commercial (GC)’ (see 
the attached zoning amendment form). 

Staff Analysis – Napoleon Township has a Zoning Plan (an element of the Master Plan) which includes 
the following criteria upon which a rezoning request must be considered: 

1. Is the proposed rezoning consistent with the policies and uses proposed for that area in the 
Master Plan? 

Yes. The Future Land Use Plan (an element of the Master Plan) recommends ‘commercial’ uses 

along both sides of Brooklyn Road (M-50) in the general area (see Figure 3). 

2. Will all of the uses allowed under the proposed rezoning be compatible with other zones and 
uses in the surrounding area? 

Yes. ‘General commercial (GC)’ zoning is already located to the east and the south of the new 

lot. Commercial uses are also located on those properties 

3. Will public services and facilities be significantly adversely impacted by a development or use 
allowed under the requested rezoning? 

No. Public services and facilities are not likely to be significantly impacted by the rezoning. 

4. Will the uses allowed under the proposed rezoning be equally or better suited to the area 
than uses allowed under the current zoning district? 

Yes. The rezoning will allow for the expansion of the existing Kelly Fuels commercial complex. 

JCPC Staff Advisement – The proposed rezoning conforms to the 
Napoleon Township Master Plan, which recognizes ‘commercial’ de-
velopment on Brooklyn Road (M-50). Based upon this analysis, staff 
advises the Planning Commission to recommend APPROVAL to the 
Napoleon Township Board of the proposed rezoning to ‘general 
commercial (GC)’ 

Staff Report Attachment(s): 

 Background information provided by Napoleon Township 

  

Suggested Actions: 

(1) Recommend APPROVAL 
(2) Recommend DISAPPROVAL 
(3) Recommend APPROVAL 

WITH COMMENTS 
(4) Take NO ACTION 

12/9/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #6 



CZC | #21-31 Page 3 
 

Figure 1 

Location 

 
Figure 2 

Property Assessment 

 

12/9/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #7 



CZC | #21-31 Page 4 
 

Figure 3 

Municipal Future Land Use 

 
Figure 4 

Municipal Zoning 

 

12/9/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #8 



CZC | #21-31 Page 5 
 

Figure 5 

Aerial Photo 

 

12/9/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #9 



12/9/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #10 



Napoleon 21-11-0017

John Worden 517 536 8694

Kelly Fuels 517 787 1210

Residential R-1 General Commercial GC

36

 south .47 acres of 2.03 acres

Vacant Lot

Expansion of Kelly Fuels Complex

Napoleon Schools General Commercial

General Commercial Kelly Fuels Residential

Residential R-1 General Commercial GC

General Commercial GC Residential R-1

Brooklyn Rd.

12/9/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #11 



12/9/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #12 



 

 

Napoleon Township Planning Commission 

Minutes – November 18, 2021 

 

Call to Order: 6:00 p.m. 

 
Commission Members Present: Scott Miles, chair; John Hummer, recording secretary and township board liaison; Jeff Kirkpatrick; 
Mark LaRocque; Pam McCown; Mindy Rice; Heidi Richardson. 
 
Commission Members Absent: None. 
   
Also Present:  Richard Tallman, Kelly Fuels, John Worden, Zoning Administrator 

 

Pledge of Allegiance 

 

Approval of Agenda: MOTION by J. Kirkpatrick, seconded by P. McCown, to approve the agenda. All Ayes. Motion passed.  

 

Minutes of October 28, 2021: MOTION by H. Richardson, seconded by M. Rice, to approve the Oct. 28 minutes. All Ayes. Motion 

passed. 

 

Case #21-11-0017 – Rezoning 0.472 Acres East of 107 Plymouth Rd. and West of 122 Brooklyn Rd. – From Residential (R-1) to 

General Commercial (GC) – Applicant/Owner Kelly Fuels, 2030 Fourth St., Jackson, MI 49203: S. Miles invited applicant R. Tallman 

to explain the rezoning request. R. Tallman stated there was a land swap with Napoleon Community Schools where the schools were 

interested in property adjacent to the bus garage owned by Kelly Fuels and Kelly Fuels was interested in property fronting Brooklyn 

Road owned by the schools. The schools gave Kelly Fuels 0.472 of an acre that was zoned Residential (R-1) and received roughly the 

same amount of land from Kelly Fuels. MOTION by J. Kirkpatrick, seconded by P. McCown, to recommend to the Township Board the 

rezoning of the south 0.472-acre (of 2.03 acres) east of 107 Plymouth Road and west of 122 Brooklyn Road from Residential (R-1) to 

General Commercial (GC). All Ayes. Motion passed. J. Worden stated the case now goes to the Jackson County Planning Commission 

the second Thursday of December and, if approved, will come to the township board the second Tuesday of December. 

 

Public/Commission Comment - Non-Agenda Items  

Public: None. 

Commission: J. Worden announced that the new draft solar ordinance was approved unanimously by the Jackson County Planning 

Commission, with comments. The comments mainly deal with adjusting some of the definitions and numbering/formatting within 

the ordinance text. 

 

Adjourned 6:16 p.m. 

 

 

John Hummer, Secretary_________________________________________________ 

12/9/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #13 



12/9/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #14 



12/9/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #15 



12/9/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #16 



12/9/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #17 



12/9/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #18 



12/9/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #19 



12/9/21 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #20 




